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1. 
Chairman and CEO’s Letter

Dear Shareholders,

It is with great pleasure that we present to you Credible’s Labs Inc.’s (“Credible” or “the Company”) 2018 full year 
financial results. As a Board and Management team, we are excited by what the future holds for Credible and  
are proud of the team’s many accomplishments during the year, including originating a record total Closed Loan 
Volume (“CLV”) of US$1.1 billion, launching a first‑of‑its‑kind fully digital mortgage marketplace, and continuing  
to deliver exceptional levels of customer satisfaction as evidenced by Credible’s Trustpilot rating of 9.6/10 based 
on over 2,000 consumer reviewers (as at the date of this report).

Credible is a millennial‑focused, end‑to‑end online consumer loan marketplace. Since the initial launch of our 
student loan refinancing marketplace in 2012, Credible has continued to leverage its proprietary technology to build 
new marketplaces including those for private student loan originations (2015), personal loans (2016), credit cards 
(2017) and importantly mortgages (2018). In Q4 2018 the Company launched an end‑to‑end mortgage refinancing 
marketplace, and more recently announced its plans to launch a home purchase mortgage marketplace during 
H1 2019. The launch of a mortgage marketplace is an exciting development for Credible that will allow us to  
access the US$1.6 trillion residential mortgage market in the U.S..

Our Value Proposition
Credible’s delivers a unique value proposition to both sides of our marketplace, borrowers and lenders. Leveraging 
proprietary technology and integrations with lenders and third‑party data providers, Credible delivers a seamless, 
concierge‑style loan origination experience where borrowers can easily shop and apply for loans and receive firm 
offers of credit without ever leaving the Credible platform.

Credible’s platform provides meaningful benefits  
to both consumers and financial institutions
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For consumers, Credible enables shopping for actual prequalified rates (not rate ranges or estimates) across a 
range of financial services providers in less than 3 minutes without any impact to a consumer’s credit score while 
also providing full transparency into the range of product alternatives available for a borrower’s specific situation 
and need. As a result, we give borrowers greater control over the loan search and application process as well as 
the peace of mind that they have shopped the market. We provide borrowers the benefits of price comparison 
without the hassle of having to visit and interact with each and every individual lender to fill out separate and 
distinct credit applications, a process which is time consuming and often negatively impacts their credit scores1.

For lenders, our model offers efficient customer acquisition at scale, eliminates marketing risk, provides more 
predictable returns on investment and lowers processing costs versus traditional models of customer acquisition. 
In addition, Credible provides our lending partners with access to a national audience of borrowers through a 
platform with integrated compliance based on the location of the borrower. This provides lenders with confidence 
that their newly acquired customers, who selected them on the Credible marketplace as their loan provider, are 
receiving a best‑in‑class onboarding experience that meets, or exceeds, their internal customer experience 
standards and regulatory requirements.

We believe that our unique and compelling value proposition will continue to attract consumers, marketing 
partners and lenders to our marketplace over time, positioning Credible to become the leading end‑to‑end online 
marketplace for consumer loans.

FY2018 Highlights
Record Closed Loan Volume
Credible delivered strong growth in CLV in FY2018 originated through the platform, achieving +40% growth  
from $782 million in FY2017 to a record $1.1 billion. Our momentum accelerated into H2 2018 where we posted 
+56% and +108% y‑o‑y growth in Q3 and Q4 respectively. This growth was driven by strong performance across 
Credible’s student loan refinancing and personal loan marketplaces and was supported by the seasonal impact  
of student loan origination.

Strong Financial performance
The growth in CLV translated to annual revenue of $26.4 million in FY2018, representing +34% growth y‑o‑y from 
$19.6 million in FY2017, and a gross profit margin for the year of 26%. Revenue reflected the momentum seen in 
both student loan refinancing and personal loans during H2 2018. Our gross margin reflects Credible’s continued 
investment in developing scalable partnership channels as well as our investment in brand development and 
brand marketing to build awareness among potential borrowers. In particular, Credible continued to invest in  
TV advertising during FY2018, launching multiple ad campaigns across national broadcast TV, various cable 
channels, Facebook and Instagram.

Healthy Marketplace Dynamics
We continued to strengthen the health of our marketplace by expanding and diversifying our panel of lenders, 
scaling our personal loans marketplace into a meaningful contributor to our overall CLV, and significantly growing 
the contribution from our partner channels, which has been a strategic goal for the company as previously 
announced. As at 31 December 2018, Credible had over 230 marketing partners and 37 lending partners,  
up from over 140 and 24 respectively at the time of Credible’s initial public offering.

1 In the U.S. a hard credit inquiry will affect a consumer’s credit score. A hard credit inquiry is triggered when a borrower actually applies for 
credit, such as a mortgage, credit card, student loan, or personal loan. The inquiry requires a borrower’s consent and becomes part of a 
borrower’s credit report, meaning that any third party who conducts a hard or soft pull will see the previous credit inquiry. Hard credit 
inquiries are often associated with a decrease in credit score.
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230+
MARKEtING pARtNERS

37
FiNANCiAl iNSTiTUTiON 

PARTNeRS

up FROM1

140+

up FROM1

24

1. Statistic as disclosed in Credible’s Prospectus dated 28 November 2017

Accelerated Mortgage Launch
We successfully launched our mortgage refinancing marketplace in Q4 2018 ~6 months ahead of schedule with 
6 lenders, and announced our intention to launch a home purchase mortgage marketplace during the H1 2019. 
As at the date of this report, Credible had publicly released an initial version of its home purchase mortgage 
marketplace. Mortgage represents a substantial opportunity for Credible with total industry originations of 
US$1.6tn per year (~80x student loan industry originations and ~8x personal loan industry originations).

Demonstrated Scalability of platform
Credible successfully demonstrated the scalability of its platform during FY2018. We’ve built a core technology 
platform and operations capable of processing a significant number of loan transactions without requiring 
proportionate increases in human capital or associated infrastructure. In the H2 2018, the company processed 
almost 2x the loan volume that it processed in H1 2018, with only a 22% increase in headcount over the course  
of the year. We continue to believe that our platform will generate significant economies of scale as Credible  
grows its CLV, and that this will translate into expanding operating margins over time.

Strong Cash position
In line with past practice, the company continued to carefully manage its cash resources and costs. Credible’s 
management team is deliberate and disciplined in how we invest capital in the business. As a result, Credible 
enters 2019 with US$29.6 million of cash and cash‑like equivalents2, providing the Company with the resources  
to continue to execute on its growth strategy.

2 Includes investments in BBB+ or higher rated instruments with short term maturity dates of less than two years, with the majority less 
than one year.
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Looking Ahead
We continue to see a massive structural shift in financial services to online platforms, creating significant 
opportunities for financial technology companies like Credible. Consumer preferences are rapidly changing, and 
the demand for more streamlined, digital financial services experiences continues to accelerate. We believe that 
online marketplaces, in particular those, like Credible, which own and manage the majority of the user experience, 
will become the preferred destination for consumers, particularly millenials.

Millennials are entering their prime spending years and by 2025 will represent 75%3 of the working population  
in the U.S.. They are habitual comparison shoppers and conditioned to expect seamless online experiences.  
This translates into a massive opportunity for Credible, and we remain confident that we are building the right 
foundations to be a long‑term winner.

In 2019, we will continue to pursue growth across all of our marketplaces. We are excited about the positive 
developments we are seeing in our personal loan marketplace and expect personal loans marketplace 
momentum to carry into 2019. In addition we will continue to consolidate Credible’s share in the student loans 
market. The launch of our mortgage marketplace represents a substantial milestone for Credible and provides  
the Company with access to the US$1.6 trillion residential mortgage market. Importantly, our home purchase 
mortgage marketplace positions us to pursue a wider range of strategic partnerships in the real estate sector 
which we expect will unlock additional growth opportunities. Achieving scale in this new vertical will take time, 
however, our unique end‑to‑end origination platform and proprietary technology positions us to win material 
market share in the long run.

We expect volatility in CLV will continue as we seek to grow our market share sustainably. Credible’s long‑term 
success will be founded on our ability to innovate for our customers and partners, and to remain nimble. We’ve 
demonstrated during 2018 our ability to balance our growth ambitions with responsible capital management, and 
we will continue to manage our cash resources prudently while making well‑considered investments designed to 
solidify our leadership over the longer‑term.

Credible’s focus will remain on exceeding our customers’ expectations and delivering value for all stakeholders.

 

Ron Suber Stephen Dash 
Chairman Founder and Chief Executive Officer

3 Ernst & Young – Global generations: A global study on work‑life challenges across generations (2015).
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2. 
Directors’ Report

The Board of Directors of Credible Labs Inc. (the “Company”) present their report, together with the financial 
statements on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the “Consolidated Entity”, “Credible” or “the 
Group”) consisting of the Company and subsidiary for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

1. General information
directors
The names of the Directors in office at any time during the financial year and up to the date of this report  
are as follows:

– Annabelle Chaplain

– Stephen Dash

– Dean Dorrell

– Ron Suber

– Ruirong Yang

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary from 1 January 2018 through 25 July 2018 was Jobe Danganan. On 25 July 2018,  
Jessica Rossman was appointed Company Secretary and was in this position up to the date of this report.

Principal Activities
Credible Labs Inc. was incorporated on 20 November 2012 as a corporation in the state of Delaware, United 
States of America (“USA”). The Company was formerly known as Stampede Labs Inc. and changed its name to 
Credible Labs Inc. in December 2013. The Company operates an online marketplace that allows consumers to 
receive financial product offers from financial institutions. No significant change in the nature of these activities 
occurred during the financial year.



9

CR
ed

ib
le

 l
A

b
S 

iN
C.

A
N

N
u

A
L 

R
Ep

O
Rt

 2
01

8

Presentational currency
The functional and presentation currency of the Group is United States Dollars (“US dollars”). The financial report 
is presented in US Dollars, rounded to the nearest dollar. All references to dollars, cents or $’s in these financial 
statements are in US currency, unless otherwise stated.

State of incorporation
The Company is incorporated in the State of Delaware, United States of America. As a foreign company registered 
in Australia, the Company is subject to different reporting and regulatory regimes than Australian companies.

2. Business review
Operating results
The loss of the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $13,048,442 (FY2017: $11,181,127).

Review of operations
Revenue Model

Credible operates a marketplace that allows consumers to receive and accept financial product offers from 
financial institutions. Credible expanded its marketplace offering during the year to include mortgage loan 
refinancing in addition to student loan refinancing, private student loans, personal loans, and credit cards all of 
which were on offer in 2017. Credible derives fee revenue from financial institutions that offer financial products 
on its marketplace. Fee revenue is generally based on the aggregate volume of loans (“Closed Loan Volume”) 
closed through Credible for student loan refinancing, private student loan origination, personal loans, and 
mortgage loan refinancing and for the number of credit cards originated through Credible.

Business Update

Revenue increased in FY2018 relative to FY2017 primarily due to increased Closed Loan Volume. Increased  
Closed Loan Volume in FY2018 primarily reflects growth experienced during H2 2018 across Credible’s student 
loan refinancing and personal loan marketplaces; seasonal impact of peak private student loan origination season 
during Q3 2018; and a successful shift toward scalable partnership channels. The growth in H2 2018 was in 
contrast to a lower H1 2018 relative to H1 2017 that was due to a reduction in Closed Loan Volume originated 
from digital paid channels as a result of actions taken by management to reduce spend in these channels during 
H1 2018 in response to a less favourable environment for digital paid advertising.

Gross profit reflects the impact of higher revenue offset by a decrease in gross profit margin relative to FY2017. 
Gross profit margin decreased relative to FY2017 due to initiatives to develop new distribution channels, which 
led to increased cost of sales as a proportion of revenue. New distribution channels typically exhibit lower 
margins during the early stage of their development. During 2018 the Company began the development of new 
marketing channels (primarily TV) and invested in marketing to drive growth in less mature marketplaces such as 
personal loans. The gross margin reduction during FY2018 as compared with FY2017 was also impacted by a less 
favourable environment for paid digital advertising during the year.

Employee benefit expenses predominantly consists of wages and salaries. Increases in FY2018 over FY2017 were 
driven primarily by the growth in the number of employees (excluding capitalised employee costs related to 
engineering, product and design employees). This increase is reflective of increased headcount in the client 
success, business intelligence, and partnerships functions as well as hiring related to the launch of Credible’s new 
mortgage marketplace which included hiring of licensed mortgage loan officers as well as other related 
supporting staff located predominantly in Durham, North Carolina. Excluding engineering, product and design 
employees, there were 64 full time employees as at 31 December 2017 and this number increased to 76 
employees as at 31 December 2018. Total headcount including engineering, product and design employees (for 
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which costs are capitalised and not included in Employee benefit expenses) was 100 as at 31 December 2017 
relative to 122 as at 31 December 2018.

Administrative Expenses predominantly consist of rent, data integrations with credit bureaus and office‑related 
expenses. Rent expense increased in FY2018 as compared to FY2017, as a result of costs associated with the 
opening of a new office in Durham, North Carolina for the purposes of (i) supporting the launch of Credible’s 
mortgage marketplace; and (ii) providing additional client success support to complement Credible’s existing 
client success team in San Francisco. Administrative Expenses also reflect the relocation costs associated with the 
transfer of Credible’s San Francisco operations to a new office location in San Francisco. The costs associated with 
data integration with credit bureaus, which enable Credible to provide pre‑qualified rates to consumers, increased 
due to the growth in the number of users requesting pre‑qualified rates on the Credible Marketplace. The 
increase in office‑related expenses was primarily driven by the increase in headcount.

The increase in non‑direct marketing expenses during FY2018 over FY2017 was driven primarily by the increase in 
the use of marketing consultants and external third‑party services associated with continued investment in sales 
and marketing activities which are expected to drive brand value and Closed Loan Volume growth in 
future periods.

Depreciation is a non‑cash item that relates to the depreciation of computers and office equipment. Amortisation 
is a non‑cash item that relates to the amortisation of capitalised development costs, domain names, trademarks 
and other intellectual property.

The amortisation expense recognized in FY2018 primarily reflects continued amortisation of investment in 
technology and development related to Credible’s platform. Depreciation and amortisation were higher FY2018  
in line with continued increases in technology investment into Credible’s platform over time during FY2017 and 
FY2018. As previously disclosed, the comparability of depreciation and amortization in FY2018 relative to FY2017 
is also impacted by the re‑evaluation of the estimated useful life of certain assets (the adjustment of which took 
effect during H2 2017).

There were no Finance expenses in FY2018. Finance expenses in FY2017 related to interest accrued with respect 
to outstanding convertible note instruments. The convertible notes had a conversion feature, which is classified 
as an embedded derivative and is measured at fair value. Movements in the fair value of the derivative are 
reflected in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. Shortly before completion of 
Credible’s IPO in December 2017, the convertible notes, along with accrued interest and the derivative liability, 
were converted into ordinary shares and the fair value loss associated with that conversion recorded in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

During the year, Credible continued to grow its user base and customers. Cumulative unique registered users 
totalled 1,254,875 and cumulative closed through the Credible platform totalled 60,739 as of 31 December 2018. 
This reflects an increase from 909,969 and 38,949 as of 30 June 2018 and 707,776 and 29,218, respectively, as of 
31 December 2017.

Initial Public Offering

During the financial year ended 31 December 2017 (“FY2017”), Credible successfully completed its Initial Public 
Offering of securities (IPO) and was admitted to the official list of the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) on 
8 December 2017 AEST. The Company issued 42,881,650 new CHESS Depositary Interests (“CDIs”) over shares of 
common stock (ordinary shares) at an issue price of AUD$1.21 per CDI (with the ratio of CDIs per Share being 25 
CDIs to every 1 Share) to raise AUD$51.9 million. The IPO proceeds (net of listing related costs) are being invested 
in supporting the Company’s growth.

Dividends paid or recommended
The Company has not declared or distributed any dividends during the financial year (FY2017: $Nil).

Operating performance
For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recognised an underlying loss balance of $11,691,716, as 
compared to $5,496,017 recorded in 2017. The Group’s statutory loss recorded for the period is ($13,048,442) 
(2017: $11,181,127).
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The following table summarises key reconciling items between the Group’s underlying profit and statutory profit 
after tax:

FY2018 
US$

FY2017 
US$

Underlying loss before tax (11,691,716) (5,496,017)

Share‑based payment expense (1,356,726) (380,680)

Fair value loss on derivative – (3,427,403)

Interest expense on convertible notes – (283,521)

Initial public offering expenses – (1,593,506)

Loss attributable to shareholders before tax (13,048,442) (11,181,127)

Income tax expense – –

Loss attributable to shareholders after tax (13,048,442) (11,181,127)

3. Other items
Significant changes in state of affairs
There were no significant changes to the Group’s state of affairs during the year to 31 December 2018.

Events after the reporting date
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group 
in future financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of operations have 
not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to the Group.

Corporate governance statement
Please see the following URL of the company’s website where the corporate governance polices are located.

https://www.credible.com/investors

Environmental regulations
The Directors do not consider that there are any significant environmental regulations which apply to the Group.

Share Options
Credible has a share‑based compensation plan under which share options are granted to employees and Key 
Management Personnel (“KMP’s”) with exercise prices equal to market prices of the underlying shares on the date 
of grant. Grants are approved by the Board of Directors. Details of the outstanding share options granted under 
the employee share option plan are disclosed in Note 19.
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Securities on issue
The company had the following securities on issue as at 31 December 2018:

Category
Common  

Stock
Cdi  

equivalent

Ordinary Shares 9,649,553 241,238,825

Restricted shares 489,076 12,226,900

Options 881,635 22,040,875

The company had the following securities on issue as at 31 December 2017:

Category
Common  

Stock
Cdi  

equivalent

Ordinary Shares 9,633,368 240,834,200

Restricted shares 489,505 12,237,625

Options 696,182 17,404,550

Substantial Shareholders
Substantial shareholders as of 31 December 2018 are as follows:

Name

Number of 
Ordinary Fully 

Paid Shares 
Held

% Held 
of issued 
Ordinary 

Capital

Stephen Dash 4,408,798 45.7%

Indemnifying Officers or Auditors
No indemnification has been requested or triggered during or since the end of the financial years, for any person 
who is or has been an officer or auditor of the Company.

proceedings on Behalf of Company
No material legal claims have been brought against the Company or by the Company during the relevant 
time period.
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Non‑audit services
The following fees for non‑audit services were paid to the external auditors, BDO East Coast Partnership, and 
their affiliated entities during the year ended 31 December 2018 by the Group:

Service
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Due diligence services related to initial public offering – 103,610

Total – 103,610

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Stephen Dash 
Founder and CEO 
San Francisco, 27 February 2019 PST (28 February 2019 AEST)
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3. Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Notes
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Revenue 26,386,279 19,760,454

Cost of sales (19,509,552) (14,006,852)

Gross profit 6,876,727 5,753,602

Other income 2(a) 561,084 69,428

Employee benefit expenses 2(b) (12,002,355) (6,588,205)

Administrative expenses (6,223,879) (3,324,988)

Marketing expenses (1,192,680) (974,900)

Depreciation and amortisation 2(a) (1,001,070) (796,604)

Other expenses 2(a) (66,269) (1,608,536)

Finance costs 2(a) – (283,521)

Fair value loss on derivative 12 – (3,427,403)

Loss before income tax (13,048,442) (11,181,127)

Income tax expense – –

Loss for the year (13,048,442) (11,181,127)

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss

Debt instruments at FVOCI – net change in fair value (25,027) –

Total comprehensive loss for the year (13,073,469) (11,181,127)

US$ US$

Earnings/(loss) per share attributable  
to the owners of Credible Labs Inc.

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share 13 (1.35) (1.49)

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per CDI 13 (0.05) (0.06)

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial position
As at 31 December 2018

Notes
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 3 8,075,069 43,916,298

Trade receivables 4 4,220,263 2,881,143

Financial assets 24 21,563,173 –

Prepayments and other assets 5 707,539 752,075

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 34,566,044 47,549,516

NON‑CURRENT ASSETS

Other assets 5 135,280 132,719

Plant and equipment 6 293,471 131,003

Financial assets 23 579,945 –

Intangible assets 7 6,729,289 3,535,113

TOTAL NON‑CURRENT ASSETS 7,737,985 3,798,835

TOTAL ASSETS 42,304,029 51,348,351

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 8 4,220,462 1,743,761

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,220,462 1,743,761

NON‑CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other liabilities 174,130 –

TOTAL NON‑CURRENT LIABILITIES 174,130 –

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,394,592 1,743,761

NET ASSETS 37,909,437 49,604,590

EQUITY

Issued capital 12 64,608,233 64,586,643

Reserves 14 1,720,866 389,167

Accumulated losses (28,419,662) (15,371,220)

TOTAL EQUITY 37,909,437 49,604,590

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Note

issued  
Capital 

US$

Share‑based 
payments 

reserve 
US$

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve 
US$

Accumulated 
losses 

US$
Total 

US$

Balance at 1 January 2017 12,611,016 8,487 – (4,190,093) 8,429,410

Loss for the year – – – (11,181,127) (11,181,127)

Other comprehensive income 
for the year, net of tax – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss  
for the year – – – (11,181,127) (11,181,127)

Transactions with owners  
in their capacity as owners:

Issue of shares during the year 52,839,298 – – – 52,839,298

Repurchase of shares during 
the year 12 (18) – – – (18)

Share‑based payments – 380,680 – – 380,680

Capital raising costs (863,653) – – – (863,653)

Balance at 31 December 2017 64,586,643 389,167 (15,371,220) 49,604,590

Loss for the year – – – (13,048,442) (13,048,442)

Other comprehensive loss  
for the year, net of tax – – (25,027) – (25,027)

Total comprehensive loss  
for the year – – (25,027) (13,048,442) (13,073,469)

Transactions with owners  
in their capacity as owners:

Issue of shares during the year 12 21,599 – – – 21,599

Repurchase of shares during 
the year 12 (9) – – – (9)

Share‑based payments – 1,356,726 – – 1,356,726

Balance at 31 December 2018 64,608,233 1,745,893 (25,027) (28,419,662) 37,909,437

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Note
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Cash from operating activities:

Receipts from customers 24,968,691 19,523,659

Payments to suppliers and employees (35,200,370) (24,067,078)

Interest and other income received 647,125 22,596

Net cash used in operating activities 18 (9,584,554) (4,520,823)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of plant and equipment (235,327) (104,887)

Payments for intangible assets (4,122,387) (2,253,721)

Purchase of investments, net (21,484,304) –

Refund of security deposit 239,659 41,902

Payment of security deposit (579,945) –

Net cash used in investing activities (26,182,304) (2,316,706)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings – 100,000

Proceeds from issue of shares 21,599 38,995,655

Transaction costs on issue of shares (95,961) (2,457,159)

Repurchase of shares (9) (18)

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (74,371) 36,638,478

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (35,841,229) 29,800,949

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 43,916,298 14,115,349

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3 8,075,069 43,916,298

Breakdown of cash and financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 8,075,069 43,916,298

Financial assets – current 21,563,173 –

Financial assets (restricted cash) – non‑current 579,945 –

Total cash and financial assets 30,218,187 43,916,298

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

1. Summary of significant accounting policies
(i) General Information

Credible Labs Inc. is a Company incorporated and domiciled in the United States of America. Credible Operations, 
Inc. is a Company incorporated and domiciled in the United States of America and is a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Credible Labs Inc. The functional and presentation currency of Credible Labs Inc. and Subsidiary is US dollars. The 
consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue on 27 February 2019 PST (28 February 2019 AEST).

The registered office and principal place of business of the Group is:

22 4th Street, Floor 8 
San Francisco, CA 94103 
United States of America

(ii) Basis of preparation

These general purpose consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”), as 
appropriate for‑profit oriented entities. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based 
on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected financial assets and 
financial liabilities. All amounts are presented in US dollars, unless otherwise noted.

(iii) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the parent company 
Credible Labs Inc. and its subsidiary. Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. The parent controls an entity 
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Company’s subsidiary is Credible Operations, Inc.

The assets, liabilities and results of the subsidiary are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the Group 
from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from 
the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions 
between group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by 
the Group.

Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as 
“non‑controlling interests”. The Group initially recognises non‑controlling interests that are present ownership 
interests in subsidiaries and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets on liquidation at 
either fair value or at the non‑controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, non‑controlling interests are attributed their share of profit or loss and each component of 
other comprehensive income. Non‑controlling interests are shown separately within the equity section of the 
statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income.

(iv) Going Concern

The 31 December 2018 financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates 
continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary 
course of business. This is notwithstanding that the Group generated a loss from continuing activities of 
$13,048,442 (2017: loss of $11,181,127).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(iv) Going Concern (continued)

Despite the losses incurred, as at 31 December 2018, the Group’s current assets exceeded current liabilities by 
$30,345,582 (2017: $45,805,755) which included cash equivalents and short term investments of $29,638,242 
(2017: $43,916,298).

In consideration of the above, the Directors are of the view that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they fall due. As a result, the Group’s financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis.

(v) Accounting Policies

Other than the implementation of the two new accounting standards noted below, the accounting policies 
adopted are consistent with the previous year.

New accounting standards and interpretations

The Group has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 9 Financial Instruments from 
1 January 2018. Further information is detailed below.

A number of other new standards are effective from 1 January 2018 but they do not have a material effect  
on the Group’s financial statements.

i. Revenue

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is 
recognised. It replaced AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations. As a result, 
the Group has changed its accounting policy for revenue recognition as detailed below.

The Group has adopted AASB 15 using the cumulative effect method (by recognising the cumulative effect of 
initially applying AASB 15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018). The transition 
exercise on adopting AASB 15 did not result in an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018 
due to the Group’s revenue solely being derived from revenue arising from the disbursement of loans from the 
lender to the borrower. Revenue from these activities is recognized only once a lender has approved a loan and 
disbursed the funds to the borrower. As this reflects the underlying performance obligation under AASB 15,  
the application of AASB 15 has not had a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. Comparative 
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under AASB 118.

ii. Financial Instruments
AASB 9: Financial Instruments

AASB 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some 
contracts to buy or sell non‑financial items. This standard replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition  
and Measurement. As a result, the Group has changed its accounting policy for certain financial instruments as 
detailed below.

The Group has elected to apply AASB 9 on a retrospective basis, however elected not to restate comparative 
information. This means AASB 9 is applied retrospectively, however the valuation of impacted financial 
instruments is reflected in opening equity on the initial application date, as opposed to the previous accounting 
period. The transition exercise on adopting AASB 9 did not result in an adjustment to the opening balance of 
equity at 1 January 2018.
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During the year to 31 December 2018, the Group invested in various short term debt instruments with maturity 
dates of less than one year (refer note 24). These assets have been classified as financial assets held at Fair Value 
Through Other Comprehensive Income (‘FVOCI’) under a hold to collect and sell business model. Other than these 
short term debt instruments, the adoption of AASB 9 has not had a significant impact on the accounting policies 
applied to the Group’s financial instruments.

Details of accounting policies in respect to the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed below.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the entity commits itself to 
either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is 
classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or 
loss immediately.

The Group’s financial instruments are subsequently classified and measured as follows:

(i) Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where  
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements  
in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest 
income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income 
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) 
and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivable assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign 
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit 
or loss.

Trade receivables represent amounts due from the Group’s financial institution partners’ from the disbursement 
of loans performed in the ordinary course of business. They are generally due for settlement within 45 days and 
therefore are all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration 
that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. 
The group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore 
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Details about the group’s impairment policies and the calculation of the loss allowance are disclosed below and  
in the respective notes to the financial statements.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt 
investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other 
gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises. The Group does not currently recognise any assets at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(v) Accounting Policies (continued)
ii. Financial Instruments (continued)

(iv) Financial liabilities

Non‑derivative financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the financial 
liability is derecognised.

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of 
the purchase of those goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

Other than the conversion feature on the Group’s convertible notes which was extinguished in the prior period 
(refer note 12), the Group does not currently recognise any financial liabilities at FVTPL.

(v) Amortised cost

Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 
recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any cumulative 
amortisation of the difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount calculated using the effective 
interest method.

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period and 
is equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) over the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the 
contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 
Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying amount with a 
consequential recognition of an income or expense item in profit or loss.

(vi) Impairment

AASB 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in AASB 139 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (‘ECL’) model. The new 
impairment model is applied to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt 
investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments.

Under AASB 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:

– 12‑month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the 
reporting date; and

– Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument.

ECLs are a probability‑weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of  
all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract 
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the 
financial asset.

The Group has adopted a simplified approach for trade receivables on the initial transition date (1 January 2018) 
and as there hasn’t been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of these assets an amount 
equal to 12‑month ECL is to be recognised. As the ECL assessment has resulted in an immaterial credit loss no 
impairment allowance has been recognised by the Group (refer note 4).
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As the initial recognition date of the short term debt instruments classified as financial assets occurred during the 
year, no ECL assessment was required on the initial transition date (1 January 2018). The Group has subsequently 
performed an ECL assessment on the financial assets and no impairment allowance has been recognised due to 
the credit loss being immaterial (refer note 24).

iii. Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. All 
assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives. Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight‑line 
basis over the asset’s expected useful life commencing from the time the asset is ready for use. Depreciation  
is recognised so as to write off the cost less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight‑line 
method or the reducing balance method for assets likely to incur accelerated use or obsolescence. The estimated 
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each financial period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The estimated useful lives used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Office Equipment: 5 years 
Computer Equipment: 3 years

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains  
and losses are included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

iv. Internally‑generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred, unless such 
expenditure results in an internally‑generated intangible asset, in which case it is recognised as a 
capital expenditure.

An internally‑generated intangible asset arising from software development is recognised if, and only if, all of the 
following have been demonstrated:

– the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

– the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

– the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

– how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

– the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 
or sell the intangible asset; and

– the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally‑generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred 
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no 
internally‑generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally‑generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired 
separately. Amortisation starts when the asset is complete and ready for use.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with 
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Expected useful life of 3‑5 years 
is used for internally generated intangible assets and the expected useful life of 15 years is used for domain 
names, trademarks and IP transactions.

v. Impairment of Assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(v) Accounting Policies (continued)
v. Impairment of Assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre‑tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash‑generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash‑generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash‑generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (cash‑generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss immediately.

vi. Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception 
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are 
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised 
as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight‑line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight‑line basis, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased asset are consumed.

vii. Employee Benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, and annual leave, 
when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at 
their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of 
services provided by employees up to reporting date.
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viii. Income Tax
Current tax

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the 
taxable profit or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or 
asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in  
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences 
cannot be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities  
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests in joint ventures except where the Group is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these 
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the 
foreseeable future. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or 
part of the asset is to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which 
the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the 
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from 
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the 
business combination.

ix. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short‑term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown 
within short‑term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

x. Comparative Figures

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current financial period 
where required by accounting standards or as a result of a change in accounting policy.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(v) Accounting Policies (continued)
xi. Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances

The financial statements of the Group are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Group operates i.e., US dollars (functional currency).

xii. Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group operates an online marketplace that allows consumers to receive financial product offers from 
financial institutions. In return for providing these services entered into by consumers through the online 
marketplace, the financial institutions pay the Group a fee. The fee is payable to the Group based upon the 
successful disbursement of the loan to the consumer. Revenue from these activities are therefore recognised 
upon the disbursement of the loan, which occurs at a point in time as this is when the performance obligation 
is satisfied.

xiii. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events 
and based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group. Significant 
judgements, estimates and assumptions made by the Group in the preparation of these financial statements  
are outlined below.

(i) Estimation of useful lives

The estimation of useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience for plant and equipment. In 
addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered against the remaining 
useful life.

(ii) Impairment of Intangible assets

Determining whether intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 
cash‑generating units to which the intangible asset has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires  
the Directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash‑generating unit and a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount of intangible assets in the Statement of 
Financial Position at the end of the respective financial years for the Company is detailed in Note 7 with no 
impairment loss being recognised.

(iii) Share‑based payment transactions

Equity‑settled share‑based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of 
equity‑settled transactions are set out in Note18.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity‑settled share‑based payments is expensed on a 
straight‑line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually 
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate 
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, 
is recognised in the profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a 
corresponding adjustment to the share‑based payments reserve.

Equity‑settled share‑based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair 
value of the goods and services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case 
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they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the 
goods or the counterparty renders the service.

For cash‑settled share‑based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured 
initially at the fair value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period until the liability is settled, and at the 
date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any change in fair value recognised in the 
profit or loss for the period.

(iv) Fair value measurement

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The Board 
of Directors of the Group and the Chief Executive Officer determine the appropriate valuation techniques and 
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market – observable data to the extent it 
is available.

The Chief Executive Officer reports the findings to the board of Directors of the Group to explain the cause  
of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

xiv. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

The following Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations have recently been issued or amended but  
are not yet mandatory and have not been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 
31 December 2018. This list is not complete, however, it represents the key standards applicable to the Group.

AASB 16: Leases This standard is applicable to annual reporting years beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting 
requirements applicable to leases in AASB 117: Leases and related Interpretations. 
AASB 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model that eliminates the 
requirement for leases to be classified as operating or finance leases.

The main changes introduced by the new Standard are as follows:

– recognition of a right‑of‑use asset and liability for all leases (excluding short‑term 
leases with less than 12 months of tenure and leases relating to 
low‑value assets);

– depreciation of right‑of‑use assets in line with AASB 116: Property, Plant and 
Equipment in profit or loss and unwinding of the liability in principal and 
interest components;

– inclusion of variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate in the 
initial measurement of the lease liability using the index or rate at the 
commencement date;

– application of a practical expedient to permit a lessee to elect not to separate 
non‑lease components and instead account for all components as a lease; and

– inclusion of additional disclosure requirements.

The transitional provisions of AASB 16 allow a lessee to either retrospectively apply 
the Standard to comparatives in line with AASB 108 or recognise the cumulative 
effect of retrospective application as an adjustment to opening equity on the date 
of initial application.

The Group will adopt this standard from 1 January 2019 with the impact on the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income resulting in operating 
lease expenditure decreasing and depreciation and finance charges increasing. 
Management’s initial assessment has concluded that the quantum of the impact  
is not expected to be material to the net assets of the Group when the current 
operating leases are capitalised in the Group’s statement of financial position. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2. Loss for the Year
The loss for the year includes the following income:

FY2018 
US$

FY2017 
US$

Interest income 438,566 22,596

Other income 122,518 46,832

561,084 69,428

The loss for the year includes the following specific expenses:

(a) Expenses

Amortisation expense 928,211 710,369

Depreciation 72,859 86,235

1,001,070 796,604

Rental expense on operating leases 1,198,248 749,835

Finance costs – 283,521

Other expenses:

IPO transaction costs – 1,593,506

Other 66,269 15,030

66,269 1,608,536

In FY2017, the total transaction costs incurred as part of the IPO were $2,457,159. The costs directly attributable to 
issuing of ordinary shares as part of the IPO of $863,653 have been deducted from equity as disclosed in Note 12.

(b) Employee benefit expenses

Share‑based payment expense 1,356,726 380,680

Salaries and wages 8,710,587 5,032,646

Payroll taxes 767,713 455,709

Recruiting 447,045 316,042

Other employee benefits 720,284 403,128

Total employee benefits expense 12,002,355 6,588,205

In addition to the above, total employee costs capitalized to software development intangible asset were 
$4,122,387 (2017: $1,713,596).
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3. Cash and Cash Equivalents
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Cash at bank 8,075,069 43,916,298

Total cash and cash equivalents 8,075,069 43,916,298

4. trade receivables
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

CURRENT

Trade receivables 4,220,263 2,881,143

Total trade receivables 4,220,263 2,881,143

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis in accordance with the expected credit loss 
(“ECL”) model.

The ECL assessment completed by the Group as at 31 December 2018 has resulted in an immaterial credit loss 
and no impairment allowance has been recognised by the Group (2017: $Nil).

The Group’s financial institution partners represent its trade receivables at 31 December 2018. A majority of 
balances are within their terms of trade. There are no guarantees against these receivables but management 
closely monitors credit worthiness of its partners as well as the receivable balances and collections on a monthly 
basis to mitigate any risk.

On a geographical basis, the Group has significant credit risk exposures in the United States of America given  
the substantial operations in this country. The Group’s exposure to credit risk in this region at the end of the 
reporting period is $4,220,263 (2017: $2,881,143). For further details regarding the Group’s credit risk, refer to 
note 23.

5. Other assets
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

CURRENT

Prepaid expenses 677,045 503,238

Other 11,194 (530)

Security deposits 19,300 249,367

Total other assets 707,539 752,075

NON‑CURRENT

Note receivable from KMP (refer to Note 22) 135,280 132,719



3. Consolidated Financial Statements continued

30

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

6. plant and equipment
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Computer equipment – at cost 369,939 160,851

Less: Accumulated depreciation (156,470) (72,107)

213,469 88,744

Office equipment – at cost 114,385 88,146

Less: accumulated depreciation (34,383) (45,887)

80,002 42,259

Total plant and equipment 293,471 131,003

Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of plant and equipment between the beginning and end of the 
financial year:

Computer 
Equipment 

US$

Office 
Equipment 

US$
Total 

US$

At January 2017, net of accumulated depreciation 56,928 55,423 112,351

Additions 95,756 9,131 104,887

Disposals – – –

Depreciation expense (63,940) (22,295) (86,235)

At December 2017, net of accumulated depreciation 88,744 42,259 131,003

Additions 209,087 26,240 235,327

Disposals – – –

Depreciation expense (84,362) 11,503 (72,859)

At December 2018, net of accumulated depreciation 213,469 80,002 293,471

7. Intangible assets
All of the Group’s intangible assets have finite useful lives. The current amortisation charges for intangibles assets 
are included under depreciation and amortisation expense per the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software are recognised as intangible assets where the 
following criteria are met:

– it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

– management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

– there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

– it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

– adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software 
product are available; and

– the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.
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Software development costs that meet the above criteria are capitalised. Other development expenditure that 
does not meet the above criteria is recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously 
recognised as expenses are not recognised as assets in a subsequent period. Software development costs 
recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives.

Other intangible assets acquired are initially measured at cost. Internally generated assets, excluding capitalised 
software development costs, are not capitalised and are recognised in the Income Statement when the 
expenditure is incurred.

The Group’s intangible assets are assessed to be finite. Assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful lives 
and tested for impairment whenever there are indications that the assets may be impaired.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where 
an indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of the recoverable amount. Where the 
carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell or the asset’s value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows.

An impairment loss is recorded if its recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre‑tax discount rate.

Amortisation is recognised in the Income Statement on a straight‑line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
intangible asset, from the date it is available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Capitalised software costs 3‑5 years

Intellectual property 15 years

Patents, domains and trademark costs 15 years

FY2018 
US$

FY2017 
US$

Domain name

At cost 45,000 45,000

Accumulated amortisation (15,000) (15,000)

Total Domain name 30,000 30,000

Software development

At cost 8,955,616 4,857,048

Accumulated amortisation (2,266,987) (1,362,595)

Total software development 6,688,629 3,494,453

Trademarks

At cost 3,840 3,840

Accumulated amortisation (1,169) (1,169)

Total trademarks 2,671 2,671

Intellectual property

At cost 10,664 10,664

Accumulated amortisation (2,675) (2,675)

Total Intellectual property 7,989 7,989

Total intangible assets 6,729,289 3,535,113
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7. Intangible assets (continued)
Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of intangible between the beginning and end of the 
financial year:

Software 
Development 

US$

Domain  
Name 

US$
trademark 

US$

intellectual 
Property 

US$
Total 

US$

At January 2017, net of  
accumulated amortisation 1,947,134 33,000 2,927 8,700 1,991,761

Additions 2,253,721 – – – 2,253,721

Disposals – – – – –

Amortisation expense (706,402) (3,000) (256) (711) (710,369)

At December 2017, net of 
accumulated amortisation 3,494,453 30,000 2,671 7,989 3,535,113

Additions 4,122,387 – – – 4,122,387

Disposals – – – – –

Amortisation expense (928,211) – – – (928,211)

At December 2018, net of 
accumulated amortisation 6,688,629 30,000 2,671 7,989 6,729,289

8. trade and other payables
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

CURRENT

Trade payables 1,854,231 1,288,168

Other payables 2,366,231 455,593

4,220,462 1,743,761

Refer to Note 23 for information on the Group’s financial instruments.
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9. Interest in Subsidiary
On 14 September 2017 the Company formed Credible Operations, Inc. and purchased 100% of the share capital 
consisting solely of ordinary shares for $250,001. The Subsidiary’s principal place of business is in the United States.

Subsidiary financial statements used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have also  
been prepared as at the same reporting date as the Company’s financial statement.

There are no significant restrictions over the Company’s ability to access or use assets, and settle liabilities,  
of the Group.

Credible Operations, Inc. has no revenues in 2018 (2017: $nil). Net Loss of Credible Operations, Inc. included in 
consolidated profit (loss) of the Group was $755,390 in 2018. (2017: $99,352). Out of the $755,390 loss reported in 
2018, it included $175,000 expense reimbursement to Credible Labs Inc. in accordance with an expense sharing 
agreement signed between the two entities. This amount was eliminated in the Consolidated Statement of Profit 
& Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

10. tax
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

CURRENT

Income tax payable – –

Total – – 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Loss before income tax expense (13,048,442) (11,181,127)

At the statutory income tax rate of 28.00% (2017: 42.84%) (3,653,564) (4,789,995)

Non‑deductible/(non‑assessable) items (6,525) (167,525)

Total tax losses not recognised 3,660,089 4,957,520

Income tax expense – –

The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Capitalised software development costs (1,737,676) (640,050)

Fixed assets 44,595 (7,862)

Net operating losses carried forward 8,332,526 4,347,635

Accruals 165,551 –

Stock based compensation 373,596 108,903

Contribution deduction carryover 2,295 616

Unrealised exchange gain/losses 5,557 (129,242)

Unrecognised deferred tax asset (7,186,444) (3,680,000)

– –
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10. tax (continued)
NON‑CURRENT

The amount of deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses for which no deferred tax assets  
have been brought to account:

Temporary differences $2,112,835 (2017: $391,139)

Tax losses: operating losses $29,774,527 (2017: $15,534,435)

Tax losses: capital losses $nil (2017: $nil)

The benefits of the above temporary differences and unused tax losses will only be realised if the conditions  
for deductibility set out in Note 1 occur. Operating losses expire on the following dates if not used:

31 December 2033 $170,999

31 December 2034 $860,442

31 December 2035 $2,885,410

31 December 2036 $4,194,049

31 December 2037 $7,423,535

No expiration date $14,240,092

Total tax operating loss $29,774,527

The amount of taxable temporary differences for which no deferred tax liability has been brought forward to 
account due to the existence of deferred tax assets: $1,737,676 (2017: $640,050).

New Legislation

On 22 December 2017, US President Trump signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (H.R. 1) (the “Act”).  
The Act includes a number of changes in existing tax law impacting businesses including, among other things,  
a permanent reduction in the corporate income tax rate from 34% to 21%. The rate reduction took effect on 
1 January 2018. The Company’s statutory tax rate for 2018 is 28%, which includes the State of California income 
tax rate net of Federal tax benefit of 7%.

As the Group is not currently in a tax paying position and based on the historical losses incurred, no deferred  
tax assets have been recognised by the Group.

11. Dividends
The Company has not declared or distributed any dividends during the financial year (FY2017: $Nil).

12. Issued Capital
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

9,649,553 Ordinary shares (FY2017: 9,633,368) 65,325,481 65,303,882

489,076 Restricted shares (FY2017: 489,505) 146,405 146,414

Capital raising costs (863,653) (863,653)

64,608,233 64,586,643
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Movement in issued capital
FY2018 FY2017

Number of 
shares

Value 
US$

Number of 
shares

Value 
US$

Fully paid ordinary shares

Balance at beginning of the financial year 9,633,368 65,303,882 4,797,883 1,503,565

Issue of new shares 16,185 21,599 1,715,266 38,986,442

Conversion of convertible notes – – 587,947 13,710,924

Repurchase of shares – – – –

Conversion of preference shares – – 2,532,272 11,102,951

Balance at the end of the year 9,649,553 65,325,481 9,633,368 65,303,882

Preference shares

Balance at beginning of the financial year – – 2,532,272 11,102,951

Conversion of preference shares – – (2,532,272) (11,102,951)

Balance at the end of the year – – – –

Restricted shares

Balance at beginning of the financial year 489,505 146,414 421,717 4,500

Issue of new shares – – 67,972 141,932

Repurchase of shares (429) (9) (184) (18)

Balance at the end of the year 489,076 146,405 489,505 146,414

Convertible notes

In December 2016, the Company issued $10,000,000 convertible notes to 32 investors. The convertible notes  
paid a coupon of 3% per annum and were convertible to preference shares at maturity of 31 December 2018  
or, at a prior date if the Company undertook a transaction that would result in earlier conversion based on the 
terms of the convertible note.

The number of preference shares to be issued at settlement were variable based on maturity or, on the market 
price of applicable equity securities on conversion.

The convertible notes were classified as financial liabilities, which comprised a host loan and a conversion  
feature classified as an embedded derivative. The host loan was initially recognized at fair value of $10,000,000. 
Subsequent to initial recognition the host loan was carried at amortise cost using the effective interest method.

The notes were converted on 7 December 2017 at the time of the Company’s Initial Public Offering. The value of 
the conversion feature (embedded derivative) on that date was $3,427,403. The conversion feature was measured 
at fair value at each reporting date, with subsequent changes in fair value being reflected in the statement of 
profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

On conversion, the convertible notes were converted into 587,947 ordinary shares of the Company. The total 
value of $13,710,924 was contributed to equity, which is comprised of the face value of the convertible notes, 
$10,000,000; accrued interest, $283,521; and derivative liability, $3,427,403.
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12. Issued Capital (continued)

Securities on issue

The company had the following securities on issue as at 31 December 2018:

Category
Common  

Stock
Cdi  

equivalent

Ordinary shares 9,649,553 241,238,825

Restricted shares 489,076 12,226,900

Options 881,635 22,040,875

The company had the following securities on issue as at 31 December 2017:

Category
Common  

Stock
Cdi  

equivalent

Ordinary shares 9,633,368 240,834,200

Restricted shares 489,505 12,237,625

Options 696,182 17,404,550

Ordinary Shares – Common Stock:

Ordinary shares participate in dividends, but not before the full payment of dividends to all Preference 
shareholders, and the proceeds on winding up in proportion to the number of shares held. At the shareholders 
meetings, each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called; otherwise each shareholder has one 
vote on a show of hands. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Restricted shares – restricted units of Common Stock:

Restricted Share Units (RSU) relate to shares issued to employees, directors, consultants and advisors of the 
Company. These were issued at a share price based on the discretion of the Board of Directors at the time of 
issuance. The RSU’s were issued in exchange for services provided by such employees, directors, consultants  
and advisors and were issued as restricted units of Common Stock of the Company.

Capital Risk Management

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a sustainable debt to equity ratio, generate 
long‑term shareholder value and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.

The Group’s debt and capital include ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its 
capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the 
management of debt levels and share issues.

Refer to Note 23 for information on the Group’s financial instruments.
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13. Earnings per share
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (“EPS”) amounts are calculated by dividing the profit /(loss) for the year attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary outstanding shares during 
the year.

Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent by the sum of the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of  
all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares, which include options and restricted stock units 
granted to employees and directors. These potentially dilutive ordinary shares are treated as dilutive when,  
and only when, their conversion to ordinary shares would decrease EPS or increase the loss per share.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computation:

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shared between the 
reporting date and the date of authorization of these financial statements.

FY2018 
US$

FY2017 
US$

Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent (13,048,442) (11,181,127)

Number Number

Weighted average number of issued ordinary shares 9,642,461 7,481,599

US$ US$

Basic and diluted loss per share (1.35) (1.49)

Basic and diluted loss per CDI (0.05) (0.06)

Options over ordinary shares that would be dilutive if the Company was generating a profit have been excluded 
from the weighted average number of issued ordinary shares as the Company is generating a loss.

14. Reserves
Reserves of the Group consist of the investment revaluation reserve which consists of the movements in fair 
value of financial assets and the share based payment reserve the purpose of which is to recognise the fair value 
of the options issued to employees, and other parties for services rendered.

FY2018 
US$

FY2017 
US$

Investment revaluation reserve (25,027) –

Share based payment reserve 1,745,893 389,167

1,720,866 389,167

The movement in the share based payment reserve during the year amounted to $1,356,726 (2017: $380,680).
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15. Lease commitments
(i) Operating lease commitments

Non‑cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements:
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Payable – minimum lease payments:

– not later than 12 months 1,325,817 408,917

– between 12 months and 5 years 2,119,162 –

3,444,979 408,917

Operating leases represent rental on premises used by the Group. Rental amounts are subject to increases upon 
the anniversary date of each lease.

16. Events After the End of the Reporting period
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Group in future financial years.

17. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
The Company has no material contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at 31 December 2018 (FY2017: $Nil).



39

CR
ed

ib
le

 l
A

b
S 

iN
C.

A
N

N
u

A
L 

R
Ep

O
Rt

 2
01

8

18. Cash flow statement
Reconciliation of Cash Flow used in Operations with Loss after Income Tax

FY2018 
US$

FY2017 
US$

Loss for the year (13,048,442) (11,181,127)

Non‑cash flows in loss

Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,001,070 796,604

Finance costs – 283,521

Share based payment expense 1,356,726 380,680

Fair value loss on derivative – 3,427,403

Transaction costs on issue of shares – 1,593,506

Unrealized loss on foreign exchange (20,088) –

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Trade and other receivables (1,350,844) (238,470)

Prepaid expenses (173,807) (413,899)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Trade payables, accruals and other liabilities 2,650,831 830,959

Net cash used in operating activities (9,584,554) (4,520,823)

In FY2017, the total transaction costs incurred as part of the IPO were $2,457,159. The costs directly attributable 
to issuing of ordinary shares as part of the IPO of $863,653 was deducted from equity with the remaining 
$1,593,506 recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

19. Share‑based payments
Credible Labs Inc. has a Stock Incentive Plan for the grant of incentive stock options to employees, consultants 
and Key Management Personnel of the Company for stock options and restricted shares (“stock options”). Under 
the Plan share options are granted with exercise prices equal to market prices of the underlying shares on the 
date of grant. Grants of equity awards are required to be approved by the Board of Directors. Typically stock 
options are granted with a 4‑year vesting schedule where 25% of the stock options vest after 12 months of 
continuous employment, and the remaining stock options vest either quarterly or monthly over the remainder  
of the 4‑year period (subject to continuous employment).

The maximum aggregate number of Shares that have been reserved for the issuance under the Stock Incentive 
Plan is 1,850,321. The options carry no entitlements to voting rights or dividends of the Company.
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19. Share‑based payments (continued)
The following table reconciles the outstanding share options granted under the employee share option plan 
related to options issued prior to the IPO at the beginning and end of the year:

FY2018 FY2017

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
US$

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
US$

Balance at the beginning of the year 149,806 1.92 54,173 1.25

Granted during the year – – 108,306 2.20

Forfeited during the year (10,741) 1.77 (11,451) 1.52

Exercised during the year (15,910) 1.34 (947) 1.25

Canceled during the year (659) 1.61 (275) 1.25

Balance at the end of the year 122,496 1.95 149,806 1.92

Exercisable at the end of the year 62,957 1.93 31,913 1.40

(i) 15,910 options were exercised during the year FY2018 (FY2017: 947)

(ii) Balance at the end of the financial year: The share options outstanding at the end of FY2018 and FY2017 had 
an weighted average exercise price of US $1.95 and $1.92, respectively. The share options had a weighted 
average remaining contractual life of 8.1 and 8.8 years, respectively.

The following table reconciles the outstanding share options granted under the employee share option plan 
related to options issued on or after the IPO:

FY2018 FY2017

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
US$

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
US$

Balance at the beginning of the year 546,376 22.98 – –

Granted during the year 270,803 20.28 546,376 22.98

Forfeited during the year (57,284) 20.33 – –

Exercised during the year – – – –

Canceled during the year (756) 25.30 – –

Balance at the end of the year 759,139 22.22 546,376 22.98

Exercisable at the end of the year 49,250 23.74 – –
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(i) Nil options were exercised during the year FY2018 (FY2017 nil).

(ii) Balance at the end of the financial year: The share options outstanding at the end of FY2018 had a weighted 
exercise price of US $22.22 (FY2017 $22.98). The share options had a weighted average remaining contractual 
life of 9.1 years (9.9 years for FY2017).

(iii) 380,000 stock options granted in 2017 have a performance‑vesting schedule that provides for: a.) 50% vesting 
if more than $1.25 billion in loan volume is originated in 2018, or a change of control takes place within nine 
years from 1 January 2019, b.) 50% vesting if the 20‑day volume weighted average price of the CDIs is equal  
to or exceeds A$2.42 during 2018 or 2019.

(iv) For options granted during 2018 and the current financial year, a Black‑Scholes methodology was applied.  
The valuation model inputs used to determine the fair value at the grant date, are as follows:

2018 Option Grants

Grant date Expiry date
Share price 

at grant date
Exercise 

price
Expected 
volatility

dividend 
yield

Risk‑fee 
interest rate

29 January 2018 28 January 2028 $25.30 $25.30 56.00% 0% 2.55%

23 February 2018 22 February 2028 $21.56 $21.56 55.98% 0% 2.70%

23 April 2018 22 April 2028 $17.11 $17.11 55.51% 0% 2.87%

25 July 2018 24 July 2028 $17.05 $17.05 55.28% 0% 2.84%

09 September 2018 08 September 2028 $15.99 $15.99 55.06% 0% 2.84%

15 October 2018 14 October 2028 $17.47 $17.47 51.59% 0% 3.03%

(i) The fair value of the options granted is considered to represent the value of the services received over  
the vesting period and is therefore amortized over this period of time. The amount expensed in FY2018 is 
$1,356,726. Of this amount, $1,027,332 related to option grants for employees where the grants vest over  
time, and $329,393 related to performance based options issued to the CEO with vesting subject to the 
achievement of certain milestones. (2017: $380,680).

2017 Option Grants

Grant date Expiry date
Share price 

at grant date
Exercise 

price
Expected 
volatility

dividend 
yield

Risk‑fee 
interest rate

17 May 2017 16 May 2027 $2.20 $2.20 56.86% 0% 1.90%

25 July 2017 24 July 2027 $2.20 $2.20 57.08% 0% 2.02%

7 December 2017 6 December 2027 $22.72 $22.72 56.02% 0% 2.22%

24 December 2017 23 December 2027 $23.85 $23.85 56.01% 0% 2.32%

(i) The fair value of the options granted is considered to represent the value of the services received over the 
vesting period and is therefore amortized over this period of time. The amount expensed in FY2017 is 
$380,680 (2016: $8,487).
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20. Key management personnel disclosures
Key Management Personnel

The following persons were considered Key Management Personnel of the Consolidated Entity during the 
financial year:

Name Position date appointed

Stephen Dash CEO and Executive Director November 2012

Dean Dorrell Non‑Executive Director September 2015

Ruirong Yang Non‑Executive Director April 2017

Ron Suber Non‑Executive Director July 2017

Annabelle Chaplain Non‑Executive Director December 2017

Colin Bowman Vice President, and Head of Product & Design June 2014

David Lewis Vice President, and Head of Partnerships & Operations September 2014

Jaideep Vijan Vice President, and Head of Engineering February 2017

Alan Gellman Chief Marketing Officer September 2017

Christopher Bishko Chief Financial Officer February 2018

Jessica Rossman Vice President, Legal and Compliance July 2018

Jereme Albin Vice President, Marketplace Operations July 2018

Compensation

The aggregate compensation made to Directors and Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) of the consolidated 
entity is set below:

FY2018 
US$

FY2017 
US$

Short‑term employee benefits 2,126,032 1,080,103

Post‑employment benefits – –

Other long‑term benefits – –

Share‑based payments 1,146,377 362,571

Total KMP compensation 3,272,409 1,442,674

(i) Short‑term employee benefits

These amounts include fees and benefits paid to the non‑executive Chair and non‑executive directors as well as 
all salary, paid leave benefits, fringe benefits and cash bonuses awarded to executive directors and other KMP.

(ii) Post‑employment benefits

These amounts are the current‑year’s estimated costs of providing for the Group’s defined benefits  
scheme post‑retirement, superannuation contributions made during the year and post‑employment life 
insurance benefits.
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(iii) Other long‑term benefits

These amounts represent long service leave benefits accruing during the year, long‑term disability benefits  
and deferred bonus payments.

(iv) Share‑based payments

These amounts represent the expense related to the participation of KMP in equity‑settled benefit schemes  
as measured by the fair value of the options, rights and shares granted on grant date.

21. Auditor’s Remuneration
The following fees were paid or payable for audit services provided by BDO, Deloitte and other auditors:

FY2018 
US$

FY2017 
US$

Audit services – BDO

Auditing or reviewing the financial statements 88,432 60,726

Audit services – Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu – audit – 71,460

Audit services – Squar Milner – audit – 6,480

Other services – BDO

Taxation services – –

Due diligence services related to initial public offering – 103,610

Total remuneration 88,432 242,276

22. Related party transactions
Parent entity

Credible Labs Inc. is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries

Interest in subsidiary are set out in Note 9.

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 20.
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22. Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions with related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Reimbursement of expenses from SaleCo (i) – 396,876

Note receivable from KMP (ii) 135,280 132,719

Note receivable from KMP

Beginning of the year 132,719 –

Note issued – 132,000

Note repayment received – –

Interest charged 2,561 719

Interest received – –

End of the year 135,280 132,719

Provision for impairment: – –

Beginning of the year – –

Doubtful debt expense – –

End of the year – –

Expense sharing agreement with its wholly owned subsidiary 175,000 –

As part of the IPO, 12,479,625 CDIs were sold to raise AUD$15.1 million (equivalent to US$11.3 million at the  
time of the IPO) for certain existing shareholders of Credible to realise part of their equity in the Company.  
The Directors formed a special purpose vehicle, SaleCo, that was established to facilitate the sale of CDIs for 
selling shareholders. The above transaction represents expenses reimbursed by SaleCo.

(i) The note receivable was issued to Key Management Personnel in 2017 for the purchase of restricted shares. 
The note accrues interest at the rate of 1.94% per annum and is due and payable, including interest in 2022. 
The note is secured 50% by the assets of Key Management Personnel and is also secured by a pledge of 
certain shares of the Company’s restricted shares.

(ii) The Company signed an expense sharing agreement with its wholly owned subsidiary, Credible Operations  
Inc. in 2018, In which, Credible Operations Inc. agrees to reimburse the Company for office rental, certain 
management and technology services in pre‑determined rates. Such amounts were $175,000 in 2018 and  
it is being eliminated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than 
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
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23. Financial Risk Management
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short term investments (local money 
market instruments), accounts receivable and payable.

The Group holds the following financial instruments:
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Financial assets held at fair value through OCI (note 24)

Short term investments 21,563,173 –

Current financial assets held at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 8,075,069 43,916,298

Trade receivables 4,220,263 2,881,143

Other assets – Security deposits 19,300 249,367

Non‑Current financial assets held at amortised cost

Financial assets – Restricted cash 579,945 –

Other assets – Note receivable 135,280 132,719

Total financial assets 34,593,030 47,179,527

Financial liabilities held at amortised cost

Trade and other payables 4,220,462 1,743,761

4,220,462 1,743,761

The major financial risks that the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate, liquidity, 
credit and currency risk. The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks with the Group’s financial risk 
management policy. The objective of which is to support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets, whilst 
protecting future financial security.

Cash flows expected to be realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing  
of realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk occurs through its deposits with banks which are exposed 
to variable interest rates. The Group’s short term investments consist mainly of fixed interest rates. In the prior 
period, the Consolidated Entity held convertible notes of $10,000,000 which paid a coupon of 3% interest per 
annum. The convertible notes were converted into 587,947 ordinary shares of the Company on 7 December 2017. 
Refer Note 12 for further details.

The average interest rate on cash at bank is 2.15% (2017: 1.11%). The average rate of return on the Group’s 
short‑term investment is 1.99% (2017: Nil).

The consolidated entity has no bank loans and other borrowings outstanding at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).
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23. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may encounter difficulty in settling its debts or otherwise 
meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash 
flows and ensuring that adequate liquid cash balances are maintained.

The tables below analyse the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
year at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.

2018

Consolidated 
At 31 December 2018

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
%

less than 
6 months 

US$
6 to 12 months 

US$

Between 1 and 
2 years 

US$

Total 
contractual 

cash flows 
US$

Trade and other payables – 4,220,462 – – 4,220,462

Total financial liabilities – 4,220,462 – – 4,220,462

2017

Consolidated 
At 31 December 2017

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
%

Less than 6 
months 

US$
6 to 12 months 

US$

Between 1 and 
2 years 

US$

Total 
contractual 

cash flows 
US$

Trade and other payables – 1,743,761 – – 1,743,761

Total financial liabilities – 1,743,761 – – 1,743,761

(iii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counter‑party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily 
trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and short term investments.

The Group’s financial institution partners represent its trade receivables at 31 December 2018. A majority of 
balances are within their terms of trade. There are no guarantees against these receivables but management 
closely monitors credit worthiness of its partners as well as the receivable balances and collections on a monthly 
basis to mitigate any risk. The class of assets described as “trade receivables” is considered to be the main source 
of credit risk related to the Group.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2018 is the carrying value of financial assets recorded  
in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses.
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Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables.
FY2018 

US$
FY2017 

US$

Gross Provision Gross Provision

Ageing of debtors

Not past due 4,188,039 – 2,734,854 –

Past due 0 – 90 days 22,274 – 65,725 –

Past due 90 – 180 days 9,950 – 80,564 –

Past due 180+ days – – – –

4,220,263 – 2,881,143 –

The majority of balances are within the Group’s terms of trade. Whilst an immaterial amount of the balance is 
outside of these terms of trade, none of the balances are considered uncollectable. Based on the Group’s history 
of recovering all debts and in accordance with the Group’s credit assessment, no expected credit loss has been 
recognised in relation to the above receivables.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk on its short term investments is considered low. All these investments are 
rated BBB+ or higher and have maturity dates within 9 months. Collectability of these short term investments  
is reviewed on an ongoing basis in accordance with the Group’s expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. The ECL 
assessment completed by the Group as at 31 December 2018 has resulted in an immaterial credit loss and  
no impairment allowance has been recognised by the Group.

24. Fair value measurement
The Group has carried out a fair value assessment of its short term financial assets and liabilities at 
31 December 2018 in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. Due to the short term of these financial 
assets and liabilities, the carrying value did not materially differ from fair value as of this date. Further details in 
respect to the fair value of the Group’s hold to collect and sell investments are disclosed below.

a. Valuation Techniques

These financial assets represent the Group’s hold to collect and sell investments.

These assets are measured at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income. They are measured or disclosed 
in the financial assets categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

– Level 1 – the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets

– Level 2 – the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices. These have been disclosed in 
(b) below.

– Level 3 – the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data.

The financial assets are classified as level 1 and level 2 as noted below.
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24. Fair value measurement (continued)
b. Financial Instruments

The following table represents a comparison between the cost and fair values of financial assets and liabilities  
and recurring and non‑recurring fair value measurement amounts and the level of the fair value hierarchy within 
which the fair value measurements are categorised at 31 December 2018:

Level 1 Level 2

Total

US 
Government 

Treasuries
Corporate 

bonds
Commercial 

Paper Asset backed

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Balance at 31 December 2017 – – – – –

Investment during the period 3,985,389 9,499,033 3,354,502 4,645,380 21,484,304

Change in fair value (5,369) (13,663) – (5,995) (25,027)

Return 17,323 73,981 – 12,592 103,896

Balance at 31 December 2018 3,997,343 9,559,351 3,354,502 4,651,977 21,563,173

Current 3,997,343 9,559,351 3,354,502 4,651,977 21,563,173

Non‑Current – – – – –

Total: 3,997,343 9,559,351 3,354,502 4,651,977 21,563,173

As noted above, the carrying values of the Group’s other financial assets and liabilities approximate fair due to 
their short term nature. As a result, these balances have not been included in the above table.

c. Valuation Techniques and Inputs Used to Determine Level 2 Fair Values

description 
Level 2

Fair Value at 
31 December 2018 

US$ Valuation Techniques inputs Used

Corporate bonds 9,559,351 Various market and  
industry inputs

Bloomberg, Standard & Poors

Commercial paper 3,354,502 Matrix pricing Bloomberg

Asset backed securities 4,651,977 Various market and  
industry inputs

Bloomberg, Standard & Poors

There were no changes during the period in the valuation techniques used by the Group to determine Level 2 
fair values.
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25. Reliance on key financial institutions
The vast majority of the Company’s revenue is derived from its top three financial institution partners. This is mostly 
a result of these financial institutions providing either broader or more competitive products on the Marketplace. 
Based on revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018, the revenue–weighted average expiry (including automatic 
renewals) on agreements with these financial institutions is two years. If a lender terminates its agreement with 
the Company or if the Company cannot maintain or renew the contracts with these key financial institutions, the 
share of the Company’s revenue from other financial institution partners will likely increase and may result in a 
greater diversification of revenue across financial institution partners. However, the loss of one or more of these 
financial institution partners could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business.

26. Operating segments
For the year ended 31 December 2018 the Group was domiciled in the United States of America and operated an 
online marketplace that allows consumers to receive financial product offers from financial institutions. As such, 
management’s view is that there is only one operating and geographical segment.
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4. 
Directors’ Declaration

In the Directors’ opinion:

1. the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Australian Accounting Standards;

2. the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position 
as at 31 December 2018 and of its performance for the year then ended; and

3. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Stephen Dash 
Founder and CEO

San Francisco, 27 February 2019 PST (28 February 2019 AEST)



52

independent 
Auditor’s Report

5



53

CR
ed

ib
le

 l
A

b
S 

iN
C.

A
N

N
u

A
L 

R
Ep

O
Rt

 2
01

8

5. Independent Auditor’s Report



5. Independent Auditor’s Report continued

54

 

 

 

 



55

CR
ed

ib
le

 l
A

b
S 

iN
C.

A
N

N
u

A
L 

R
Ep

O
Rt

 2
01

8

 

 

 

 

 



5. Independent Auditor’s Report continued

56



57

CR
ed

ib
le

 l
A

b
S 

iN
C.

A
N

N
u

A
L 

R
Ep

O
Rt

 2
01

8

Corporate 
Governance, 
Shareholder 
and Other 
ASX Required 
Information

6
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Corporate governance statement
The Company’s Directors and management are committed to conducting business in an ethical, manner  
and in accordance with the highest standards of corporate governance. The Company had adopted and  
substantially complies with the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (Third Edition)  
(the “Recommendations”) to the extent appropriate to the size and nature of the Group’s operations.

The Company has prepared a Corporate Governance Statement which sets out the corporate governance 
practices that were in operation throughout the financial year for the Company, identified any Recommendations 
that have not been followed, and provides reasons for not following such Recommendations.

In accordance with ASX Listing Rules 4.10.3 and 4.7.4, the Corporate Governance Statement will be available for 
review on the Company’s website (www.credible.com/investors), and will be lodged together with an Appendix 4G 
with the ASX at the same time that this Annual Report is lodged with the ASX.

The Appendix 4G will particularize each Recommendation that needs to be reported against by the Company  
and will provide shareholders with information as to where relevant governance disclosures can be found.

The Company’s corporate governance policies and charters are all available on Credible’s website  
(www.credible.com/investors)

Shareholder Information as at 28 February 2019
Shareholder Information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited (ASX) Listing Rules and not 
disclosed elsewhere in the Report is set out below.

The Company has issued a total of 10,100,555 Shares of common stock (Shares) which equates to 252,513,875 
Chess Depository Receipts (CDIs). In accordance with the Company’s Prospectus dated 28 November 2017, 25 
CDIs equates to 1 Share. As at 28 February 2019, 63,681,350 CDIs are on issue, representing 2,547,254 Shares. 
7,553,301 Shares (representing the equivalent of 188,832,525 CDIs) are held by various shareholders who have 
not elected to hold Company securities in the form of CDIs.

The following information is provided on a consolidated basis.

1. In accordance with the 3rd edition ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations, 
the 2018 Corporate Governance Statement, as approved by the Board, is available on the Company’s 
website at: www.credible.com /investors. The Corporate Governance Statement sets out the extent to 
which Credible Labs Inc. has followed the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s 29 Recommendations 
during the 2018 financial year.

6. 
Corporate Governance, 
Shareholder and Other 
ASX Required Information
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2. Substantial shareholders
The number of securities held by substantial shareholders and their associates as advised to the ASX  
are set out below:

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Name 
Number 

Shares
Number  

Cdis %

Stephen Dash 4,408,798 110,219,950 43.7%

3. Number of security holders and securities on issue
Credible Labs Inc. has issued the following securities:

(a) 7,553,301 fully paid ordinary shares held by 96 shareholders;

(b) 63,681,350 CDIs held by 855 CDI holders;

(c) 31,283 unlisted $1.25 options held by 16 option holders;

(d) 96,361 unlisted $2.20 options held by 16 option holders;

(e) 75,790 unlisted $14.99 options held by 33 holders;

(f) 25,000 unlisted $15.99 options held by 1 holder;

(g) 21,950 unlisted $17.05 options held by 20 holders;

(h) 11,980 unlisted $17.11 options held by 7 holders;

(i) 32,221 unlisted $17.47 options held by 11 holders;

(j) 85,000 unlisted $21.56 options held by 1 option holder;

(k) 418,592 unlisted $22.72 options held by 4 option holders;

(l) 117,647 unlisted $23.85 options held by 14 option holders; and

(m) 43,494 unlisted $25.30 options held by 18 option holders.

4. Voting rights
Ordinary shares

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are that each stockholder shall be entitled to one vote  
for each share of capital stock held by such stockholder.

CDIs

In accordance with section 10.11 of the Company’s Prospectus date 28 November 2017, CDI holders may 
attend and vote at the Company’s general meeting by doing either of the following:

– Instructing Chess Depository Nominees Pty Limited (CDN), as the legal owner, to vote the Shares 
underlying the CDIs in a particular manner;

– Informing the Company that they wish to nominate themselves or another person to be appointed as 
CDN’s proxy with respect to their Shares underlying the CDIs for the purpose of attending and voting  
at the general meeting; or

– Converting their CDIs into a holding of Shares and voting these at the general meeting.

CDI holders will be entitled to one vote for every 25 CDIs they hold.

Options

Option holders do not have any voting rights on the options held by them.
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5. Distribution of security holders

Category Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Total 
Shareholders

Number of 
Shares

Representative 
Number of 

Cdis %

1 – 1,000 25 8,712 217.800 0.09

1,001 – 5,000 17 41,318 1,032,950 0.41

5,001 – 10,000 8 59,951 1,498,775 0.59

10,001 – 100,000 32 1,054,160 26,354,000 10.44

100,001 and over 14 8,936,414 223,410,350 88.47

Total 96 10,100,555 252,513,875 100.00

Category Unlisted Options

Total  
Holders

Number of 
Options %

1 – 1,000 68 23,928 2.49

1,001 – 5,000 55 116,163 12.11

5,001 – 10,000 6 43,881 4.57

10,001 – 100,000 11 395,346 41.21

100,001 and over 1 380.000 39.61

Total 141 959.318 100.00

Note that the Unlisted Options as stated above have various exercise prices and expiry dates.

6. unmarketable parcel of shares
The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares (being AU$500)  
is 35 based on the Company’s closing CDI price of AU$0.84, on 28 February 2019.

6. Corporate Governance, Shareholder  
and Other ASX Required Information continued
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7. twenty largest shareholders of quoted equity securities
Fully paid ordinary shares

Details of the 20 largest shareholders by registered shareholding are as follows.
Name No. of Shares No. of Cdis %

1 STEPHEN DASH 4,408,798 110,219,950 43.65%

2 RAY YANG AS GENERAL PARTNER FOR MARATHON VENTURE 
PARTNERS LP

252,646 6,316,150 2.50%

3. CARTHONA CAPITAL FS PTY LTD TR CARTHONA CREDIBLE TRUST 249,346 6,233,662 2.47%

4 CCVF1 (HP) SERVICES PTY LTD <CARTHONA CAP VF (HP) 1 A/C> 247,934 6,198,348 2.45%

5 UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 238,035 5,950,863 2.36%

6 INFINITY WEALTH LIMITED 236,886 5,922,150 2.35%

7 REGAL FUNDS MANAGEMENT PTY LTD <REGAL EMERGING 
COMPANIES FUND >

185,004 4,625,100 1.83%

8 SIMON FRANKS 167,269 4,181,725 1.66%

9 SPURGIN SHARES PTY LTD 152,668 3,816,700 1.51%

10 CUNNINGHAM PROPERTY CO PTY LTD 152,668 3,816,700 1.51%

11 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 142,130 3,553,262 1.41%

12 BRIAN LUCAS 128,747 3,218,675 1.27%

13 PTARMIGAN II INC 124,950 3,123,750 1.24%

14 AMTD PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT SOLUTIONS GROUP LIMITED 118,443 2,961,075 1.17%

15 GRANDWIN ENTERPRISES LIMITED 118,443 2,961,075 1.17%

16 SYMOND FAMILY INVESTMENTS PTY LTD ATF SYMOND FAMILY 
INVESTMENT TRUST

117,613 2,940,325 1.16%

17 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 111,118 2,777,951 1.10%

18 DEAN DORRELL 101,842 2,546,050 1.01%

19 WILDWOOD CAPITAL UK 99,042 2,476,050 0.98%

20 COLIN BOWMAN 96,800 2,420,000 0.96%

Total 7,450,382 186,259,561 73.76%

8. Address and telephone number of the Company’s registered office in Australia; 
and of its principal administrative office.
The Company’s registered Australian office is:

Company Matters Pty Ltd 
Level 12, 680 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia 
+61 (2) 8280 7355

The Company’s registered office in the USA is:

251 Little Falls Drive 
Wilmington, New Castle,  
Delaware 19808, USA

The Company’s principal place of business is:

22 4th Street, Floor 8 
San Francisco, CA 94103 USA 
+1 (415) 570 9488
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9. Number and class of restricted securities or securities subject to escrow that 
are on issue and the date that the escrow period ends
– 121,460,775 Restricted CDIs (representing 4,858,431 Shares) subject to escrow for 24 months from  

the commencement date of official quotation; and

– 451,376 unquoted options with various exercise prices and expiry dates subject to escrow for 
24 months from the date of official quotation.

10. unquoted securities
Unquoted Shares

The Company has 7,553,301 Shares on issue that are held by various shareholders who have not elected  
to hold Company securities in the form of CDIs. Shares are note quoted on the ASX.

11. On market buy‑back
There is no current on market buy‑back.

12. Statement regarding use of cash and assets
During the period between 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018, the Company has used its cash and 
assets readily convertible to cash in a way that is consistent with its business objectives set out in its 
business updates and investor presentations delivered over the course of 2018.

13. Corporations Act Disclosure
Credible, as a company incorporated in Delaware USA, is not subject to Chapters 6, 6A, 6B and 6C  
of the Corporations Act dealing with the acquisition of its shares (including substantial shareholdings 
and takeovers).

6. Corporate Governance, Shareholder  
and Other ASX Required Information continued
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